### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### CHRISTOPHER JOHNSON, Petitioner,

v.

## STATE, Respondent.

CASE NO. SC09-1045 L.T. No. 07-10734CF10B

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT

## **PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF**

Philip Massa, Director Office of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel, Fourth District

Melanie L. Casper Assistant Regional Counsel Florida Bar No. 0271070 605 N. Olive Avenue Second Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5156 Facsimile: (561) 837-5423

**Counsel for Petitioner** 

## **

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This initial brief is submitted on behalf of Petitioner, Christopher Johnson. Hereinafter, Petitioner shall be referred to as "Johnson." The co-defendant, James Mayfield, shall be identified as "Mayfield." The Office of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel for the Fourth District shall be identified as "OCCCRC4." The Office of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel, generally, shall be identified as "OCCCRC." The Office of the Public Defender for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit shall be identified as "PD15." The Office of the Public Defender for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit shall be identified as "PD17." The Office of the Public Defender, generally, shall be identified as "PD." The District Court of Appeal for the Fourth District shall be referred to as "4<sup>th</sup> DCA." The District Court of Appeal for the Third District shall be referred to as "3<sup>rd</sup> DCA." The Justice Administrative Commission shall be referred to as "JAC." The Office of the State Attorney, generally, shall be referred to as "State." The Office of the Florida Attorney General shall be referred to as "AG."

All references to motions shall be identified by the name of the motion, the filing date and the filing party, because the parties do not have a record with respect to the motions filed with the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is on discretionary review from the District Court of Appeal for the Fourth District in *Johnson v. State*, 6 So.3d 1262 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2009). At the trial court, the PD17 withdrew from representing both Johnson and Mayfield, citing that the PD17 represented the co-defendant in each of their respective cases. Both defendants were represented by court-appointed counsel at trial and were convicted after a joint trial in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County, Florida. Both Johnson and Mayfield appealed their judgment and sentence to the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA. The PD15 was appointed as appellate counsel for both defendants.

On October 15, 2008, the PD15 filed an initial brief on behalf of the codefendant, Mayfield. On or about November 3, 2008, after filing the codefendant's initial brief, the PD15 filed an unopposed motion to withdraw from representation of Appellant and requested the court appoint the OCCCRC4 as appellate counsel with the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA. The PD15 cited the AG as the non-opposing party. The PD15 alleged a conflict of interest in representing Johnson on appeal, because the office represented the co-defendant, Mayfield, on appeal. In response, on November 10, 2008, the OCCCRC4 filed an objection to the PD15's motion to withdraw arguing that a conflict of interest at the trial level does not automatically extend through to the appellate level and that a conflict of interest must be shown before the OCCCRC4 is appointed for appeal. On November 19, 2008, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA issued an order relinquishing jurisdiction to the trial court for thirty days to determine whether a conflict existed and to appoint appellate counsel. However, the relinquishment period expired before the trial court held a hearing on the adequacy of the PD15's representations regarding a conflict of interest. Therefore, there was no trial court order for the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA to review. On January 7, 2009, the OCCCRC4 filed a motion to extend the relinquishment period.

On or about January 15, 2009, the PD15 filed a status report on the motion to withdraw, in which it renewed its motion to withdraw and requested oral argument to "establish an appropriate procedure for further motions to withdraw" when the PD15 asserts a conflict of interest at the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA. In response, the OCCCRC4 filed an objection to the PD15's renewed motion to withdraw and request for oral argument as an improper request for an advisory opinion from the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA. However, on February 10, 2009, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA heard with oral argument on the motion to withdraw without first ordering briefing on the issue.

On March 18, 2009, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA issued an order denying the OCCCRC4's January 7, 2009 motion to extend the relinquishment period to determine whether a conflict existed and to appoint appellate counsel, granting the PD15's renewed motion to withdraw, and appointing the OCCCRC4 to represent Appellant. In addition, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA issued a written opinion holding that, "[w]e will no longer

relinquish jurisdiction on such motions for inquiry in the trial court. As the statute provides, if the PD certifies that a conflict exists, then RCC shall assume representation..." *Johnson v. State*, 6 So.3d 1262, 1268 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2009). The 4<sup>th</sup> DCA went on to hold that the OCCCRC4 has no standing to oppose the PD's motions to withdraw due to a conflict of interest at either the appellate court or the trial court. *Id*.

On April 1, 2009, the OCCCRC4 filed a motion for re hearing *en banc*, motion to vacate the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA's March 18, 2009 opinion and request for oral argument. On April 6, 2009, the OCCCRC4 also filed a motion to dismiss the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA's March 18, 2009 opinion for lack of jurisdiction, in that the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA infringed upon this Court's exclusive constitutional power to promulgate rules of practice and procedure in all courts of Florida.

On May 13, 2009, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA entered an order denying the OCCCRC4's motion for rehearing *en banc* and motion to vacate the March 18, 2009 opinion and motion to dismiss.

Also on May 13, 2009, the 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA issued its opinion in *State and Office of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel, Third District v. Public Defender, Eleventh Judicial Circuit,* 12 So.3d 798 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), which expressly grants a state agency, the State Attorney's Office, standing to contest a PD's motion to withdraw, and expressly conflicts with the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA's March 18, 2009 opinion.

On June 2, 2009, the OCCCRC4 timely filed its notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. This Court granted discretionary review on May 19, 2010.

Also, on May 19, 2010, this Court also granted discretionary review on *State* and Ofc. of Crim. Conflict and Civ. Reg'l. Counsel, 3<sup>rd</sup> District v. PD, Eleventh Judicial Circuit, 12 So.3d 798 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009) review granted, No. SC09-1181 (Fla. May 19, 2010). On July 12, 2010, this Court granted discretionary review on *State v. Bowens*, 2010 Fla.App. LEXIS 9851 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010), *review granted*, No. SC09-1181 (Fla. May 19, 2010). These 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA cases, reviewing the denial of the PD's motions to withdraw, have been consolidated and are pending before this Court.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

- I. Section 27.5303, Florida Statutes (2008) applies to all cases in which the PD seeks to withdraw due to a conflict of interest. Section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes (2008) applies only in those cases where the OCCCRC handled the trial and requests that the PD handle the appeal. In such cases, section 27.511(8) (2008) contemplates that the trial court already reviewed the PD's motion to withdraw pursuant to section 27.5303, Florida Statutes (2008) and appointed the OCCCRC due a to multiple representation conflict. The procedures required to allow the PD to withdraw from cases of multiple defendant representation, *at any time*, are codified in section 27.5303, Florida Statutes (2008).
- II. The OCCCRC has standing to oppose the PD's withdrawal at the trial court and appellate court, because the OCCCRC is a party to a criminal case and is directly affected by the outcome of the proceedings.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. Section 27.5303, Florida Statutes (2008) sets forth specific the steps that the PD shall follow when filing a motion to withdraw during representation of two or more indigent defendants, *at any time*. The Fourth District Court of Appeal erred in applying section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes (2008) to all appellate proceedings. That subsection applies only to those cases when the OCCCRC handled the trial and requests that the PD handle the appeal.

Judicial interpretations of statutes are pure questions of law subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Sigler*, 967 So. 2d 835, 841 (Fla. 2007). Statutory construction requires that all parts of a statute must be read together in order to achieve a consistent whole. Where possible, courts must give effect to all statutory provisions and construe related statutory provisions in harmony with one another. (See *MW v. Davis*, 756 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 2000); *See also C.S. v. S.H.*, 671 So. 2d 260, 269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)).

Section 27.5303, Florida Statutes, governs *all cases*, in both the trial and courts of appeal, in which the PD moves to withdraw from representation of an indigent defendant due to a conflict of interest:

If, at any time during the representation of two or more defendants, a public defender determines that the interests of those accused are so adverse or hostile that they cannot all be counseled by the public defender or his or her staff without conflict of interest, or none can be counseled by the public defender or his staff because of conflict of interest, then the public defender shall file a motion to withdraw and move the court to appoint other counsel. The court shall review and may inquire or conduct a hearing into the adequacy of the public defender's representations regarding a **conflict of interest** without requiring the disclosure of any confidential communications. The court shall deny the motion to withdraw if the court finds the grounds for withdrawal are insufficient or the asserted conflict is not prejudicial to the indigent client. If the court grants the motion to withdraw, the court shall appoint one or more attorneys to represent the accused, as provided in s. 27.40...

Section 27.5303(1)(a) (2008) (emphasis added).

On the other hand, section 27.511(8), applies when the OCCCRC handled the trial and then requests the PD to handle the appeal. In such cases, the PD necessarily already moved to withdraw from representation of the defendant in the trial court pursuant to a conflict of interest that the trial court then reviewed and found met the criteria of section 27.5303, Florida Statutes. As a result, the PD is able to certify a conflict of interest pursuant to section 27.5303 and move to withdraw in the appellate court pursuant to 27.511(8).

The **public defender** for the judicial circuit specified in s. 27.51(4) shall, after the record on appeal is transmitted to the appellate court by the **office of criminal conflict and civil regional counsel which handled the trial** and if requested by the regional counsel for the indicated appellate district, **handle all circuit court appeals** authorized pursuant to paragraph (5)(f) within the state courts system and any authorized appeals to the federal courts required of the official making the request. If the public defender certifies to the court that the public defender has a conflict consistent with the criteria **prescribed in s. 27.5303 and moves to withdraw**, the regional counsel shall handle the appeal, unless the regional counsel has a conflict, in which case the court shall appoint private counsel pursuant to s. 27.40.

Section 27.511(8), Fla. Stat. (2008) (emphasis added).

In its opinion, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA misinterpreted section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes to govern all cases where the PD moves to withdraw from an appeal due to a conflict of interest. See Johnson v. State, 6 So.3d 1262 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009). The court isolated the second sentence in the statute and applied it to all cases where the PD seeks to withdraw on appeal, thereby misconstruing the language and legislative intent behind section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes. See e.g., Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984) ("[W]hen the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, . . . the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning.") (quoting A.R. Douglass, Inc. v. McRainey, 102 Fla. 1141, 137 So. 157, 159 (Fla. 1931)); see also Fla. Dep't of Envtl. Prot. v. ContractPoint Fla. Parks, LLC, 986 So. 2d 1260, 1265-66 (Fla. 2008) (citing Fla. State Racing Comm'n v. McLaughlin, 102 So. 2d 574, 575-76 (Fla. 1958)) (noting that "if part of a statute appears to have clear meaning if considered alone but when given that meaning is inconsistent with other parts of the same statute or other [statutes] in pari materia, the Court will examine the entire act and those [other statutes] *in pari materia* in order to ascertain the overall legislative intent.").

The Florida Legislature enacted section 27.5303, Florida Statutes, to codify the procedures the PD shall follow in order to withdraw during the representation of two or more defendants, *at any time*. Pursuant to Section 27.5303(1)(e), Florida Statutes (2008), the PD must first determine if a conflict of interest exists, applying the standards contained in the Uniform Standards for Use in Conflict of Interest Cases found in appendix C to the Final Report of the Article V Indigent Services Advisory Board dated January 6, 2004. Section 27.5303(1)(e), Florida Statutes (2008). Then, before the PD files a motion to withdraw, it must "determine if there is a **viable alternative to withdrawal from representation** which would remedy the conflict of interest, and, if it exists, implement that alternative; [or] [a]pprove in writing the filing of the motion to withdraw." Section 27.5303(1)(e)1&2, Florida Statutes (2008) (emphasis added).

Once the PD determines that it will file a written motion to withdraw, the motion is not self-executing. Section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2008), requires that the public defender "file a motion to withdraw and move the court to appoint other counsel." Section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2008). At which point, the "court **shall review and may inquire or conduct a hearing** into the adequacy of the public defender's representations regarding a conflict of interest without requiring the disclosure of any confidential communications." *Id.* (emphasis added). The statute goes on to say that "the **court shall deny the motion** to withdraw if the court finds the **grounds for withdrawal are insufficient or the asserted conflict is not prejudicial to the indigent client**." *Id.* (emphasis added).

If, at any time during the representation of two or more defendants, a public defender determines that the interests of those accused are so adverse or hostile that they cannot all be counseled by the public defender or his or her staff without conflict of interest, or none can be counseled by the public defender or his staff because of conflict of interest, then the public defender shall file a motion to withdraw and move the court to appoint other counsel. The court shall review and may inquire or conduct a hearing into the adequacy of the public defender's representations regarding a conflict of interest without requiring the disclosure of any confidential communications. The court shall deny the motion to withdraw if the court finds the grounds for withdrawal are insufficient or the asserted conflict is not prejudicial to the indigent client. If the court grants the motion to withdraw, the court shall appoint one or more attorneys to represent the accused, as provided in s. 27.40...

Section 27.5303(1)(a) (2008) (emphasis added).

In reading the first sentence of section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2008), it is clear that the Florida Legislature intended this to be the procedure that the PD must follow *at any time*, not simply at the trial court level. Thus, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA opinion holding that whenever the PD certifies a conflict of interest, withdrawal should be automatically granted and the OCCCRC shall be appointed, is contrary to the plain meaning of section 27.5303, Florida Statutes (2008). *Johnson*, 6 So.3d at 1266.

The 4<sup>th</sup> DCA relied heavily on section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes (2008), concluding that this section applies to all appellate cases. "...[W]e conclude that § 27.511(8) is meant to control in the appellate court when multiple defendants are involved in appeals after a trial court has found a conflict." *Johnson*, 6 So.3d at

1267. The panel opinion assumes, pursuant to Turner v. State, 611 So. 2d 12 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1992), that once a conflict is asserted by the PD at the trial court level, the conflict cannot be extinguished at the appellate level, because the "appeal is merely a continuation of the original proceedings." Id. at 13. However, this assertion contradicts the clear intent and application of section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes (2008). The 4<sup>th</sup> DCA opinion fails to account for the fact that the PD15 handles appeals for the Seventeenth, Fifteenth and Nineteenth Judicial Circuits. Section 27.51(4)(d), Florida Statutes (2008). An established conflict resulting from multiple representation at the trial court level in the Seventeenth or Nineteenth Judicial Circuits does not necessarily create a conflict at the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit. There are numerous cases where OCCCRC4 was appointed due to a conflict with the PD, but the PD15 handles the appeal pursuant to section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes (2008). This is the situation contemplated by section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes (2008), not to be applied across the board in all appellate cases.

The 4<sup>th</sup> DCA's broad conclusion that any conflict asserted by the PD requires that the OCCCRC "shall handle the appeal" is simply contrary to the *in pari materia* reading of sections 27.511 (8) and 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2008). The all encompassing statement that the court "will no longer relinquish jurisdiction on such motions for inquiry in the trial court" is contrary to the plain

meaning and wording of the statute. *Johnson*, So.3d at 1268. In doing so, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA takes away power given explicitly to the trial courts to review and inquire, if necessary, into the "**adequacy** of the public defender's **representations** regarding a conflict of interest." Section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2008) (emphasis added). Additionally, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA is adjudicating/disposing of procedural matters in future cases which are not before the court.

Furthermore, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA's opinion is contrary to the checks and balances established in the legal court system, whereby all decisions made by all attorneys, trial courts, appellate courts, and supreme courts are subject to review. It allows the PD to make a decision with regard to an asserted conflict, without being subject to any review. "...[W]e have been given no reason to doubt the good faith of the PD..." *Johnson*, 6 So.3d at 1268. The OCCCRC does not debate the sincerity of the PD, just the legal sufficiency of some of its withdrawal motions. The OCCCRC is simply asking that the lower courts be allowed to exercise their statutory right to conduct an inquiry into the adequacy of the PD's representations regarding a conflict of interest, and for the OCCCRC to be noticed for such event.

Finally, the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA opinion cites an alleged legislative "contradiction," by noting that this one sentence in section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes (2008), appears "at odds" with the mission to establish the OCCCRC. "General statements of legislative intent have little power to change substantive directives stated plainly in

the same statute which may seem at odds with the general intent." *Johnson*, 6 So.3d at 1266. The OCCCRC4 insists that there is "consistency" in the legislative scheme, and that if section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes (2008), were read *in pari materia* with section 27.5303, Florida Statutes (2008), there would be no contradiction in this unambiguous statute. In fact, if the whole of section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes (2008), were read in conjunction with the one isolated sentence extracted therefrom in the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA opinion, one could discern a reconciled, uncontradictory legislative intent.

The primary guide to statutory interpretation is to determine the purpose of the legislature. ... Florida courts are without power to construe an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or limit, its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications.

Knowles v. Beverly Enterprises-Florida, Inc., 898 So. 2d 1, 2 (Fla. 2004).

With regards to the underlying November 3, 2008 Motion to Withdraw and Appoint the OCCCRC4 filed by the PD15 *sub judice*, the PD15's motion was not specific enough on its face for this Court or any court to grant the motion. The PD15 merely asserted that a conflict of interest existed because it represented a co-defendant, Mayfield, on appeal. However, the mere fact that the PD represented a co-defendant in and of itself does not establish a conflict per se. *See Holloway v. Arkansas*, 435 U.S. 478, 98 S.Ct. 1173 (1978) (noting that joint representation of co-defendants is not per se violative of the constitutional guarantee of effective assistance of counsel).

Moreover, if the trial court had conducted a conflict hearing, it would have been informed that the PD17 withdrew from representing Johnson on July 3, 2007 because it was representing the co-defendant, Mayfield. And then *two weeks later* on July 25, 2007, the PD17 withdrew from representing Mayfield because of an alleged conflict in representing co-defendant, Johnson. *Thus, the PD17 did not represent either co-defendant at the trial court level, because it alleged to be representing both co-defendants and ultimately represented neither.*

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