IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHRISTOPHER JOHNSON,)	
Petitioner,)	
)	
VS.)	CASE NO. SC09-1045
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Respondent.)	
)	
)	

ANSWER BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, State of Florida

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor 421 3rd Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

Paul E. Petillo Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 508438 ppetillo@pd15.state.fl.us

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The public defender omits the statement of the case and facts. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.210(c).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I

In 2008, the Legislature addressed appellate public defender conflicts for the first time. If the appellate public defender certifies a conflict, the Office of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel (RCC) will handle the appeal. This simplified procedure avoids considerable expense to the taxpayers and burdens on the trial court system. RCC's argument that this statute applies only when RCC was trial counsel makes little sense. RCC's theory is that in that case the trial court has already reviewed the trial public defender's motion to withdraw. But a trial court's determination that the *trial* public defender has a conflict has little or no bearing on whether the *appellate* public defender has a conflict on appeal. The Fourth District correctly held that the 2008 statute applies to all public defender appeals.

Although the Fourth District's opinion is entirely correct and should be approved, this Court may want to address whether the conflict statutes infringe on this Court's authority to adopt procedural rules under article V, section 2(a), Florida Constitution. The mechanism for deciding whether a public defender is constitutionally and ethically capable of representing a client—the formal requirements of a motion to withdraw, the nature of any hearing held, etc.—is procedural, and this Court should adopt the rules in this regard.

POINT II

At one time, the Justice Administrative Commission (JAC) had standing to contest public defender motions to withdraw. When RCC was created the Legislature eliminated JAC's standing and it did not give standing to RCC. This was probably intentional. Trial court review of the trial public defender's motion to withdraw together, with the good faith of the public defender as an officer of the court, was probably all the scrutiny the Legislature intended. Anything further—the adversarial hearings that RCC envisions—would be a waste of state resources. Accordingly, RCC has no statutory standing to contest public defender motions to withdraw. Nor does RCC have standing as a party—RCC is not a party. The parties in a criminal case are the accused and the State.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT CORRECTLY HELD THAT IF THE APPELLATE PUBLIC DEFENDER CERTIFIES CONFLICT THEN REGIONAL CONFLICT COUNSEL SHALL HANDLE THE APPEAL

A. Some History

In 1963, shortly after *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), was decided, the Legislature established Florida's Public Defender system. Ch. 63-409, Laws Of Fla. Four years later the Legislature first addressed public defender conflicts when it enacted section 27.53(3), Florida Statutes (1967)(*see* ch. 67-539, § 1, Laws of Fla.):

If at any time during the representation of two (2) or more indigents the public defender shall determine that the interests of those accused are so adverse or hostile that they cannot all be counseled by the public defender or his staff without conflict of interest, or that none can be counseled by the public defender or his staff, it shall be his duty to move the court to appoint one (1) or more members of The Florida Bar who are in no way affiliated with the public defender in his capacity as such, or in his private practice, to represent those accused. Provided that the trial court shall appoint such other counsel upon its own motion when the facts developed upon the face of the record and files in the cause disclose such conflict and said attorney may, in the discretion of the court, be paid a fee and costs and expenses as is provided in subsection (2).

This statute changed little until 1980 when the Legislature provided that "the court shall" appoint separate counsel when the public defender "certif[ies]" a

conflict. Ch. 80-376, § 4, Laws of Fla. (amending section 27.53(3), Florida Statutes). In *Guzman v. State*, 644 So. 2d 996 (Fla. 1994), this Court held that once the public defender certifies conflict, the motion to withdraw must be granted, and "the trial court is not permitted to reweigh the facts considered by the public defender in determining that a conflict exists." *Id.* at 999.

The Legislature responded to *Guzman* in 1999. *See* H.R. Comm. on Crime and Punishment, CS for HB 327 (1999) Staff Analysis 2 (June 14, 1999). Section 27.53(3), Florida Statute (1999), was amended to require the trial court to review the motion to withdraw:

If, at any time during the representation of two or more indigents, the public defender determines that the interests of those accused are so adverse or hostile that they cannot all be counseled by the public defender or his or her staff without conflict of interest, or that none can be counseled by the public defender or his or her staff because of conflict of interest, the public defender shall file a motion to withdraw and move the court to appoint other counsel. The court shall review and may inquire or conduct a hearing into the adequacy of the public defender's representations regarding a conflict of interest without requiring the disclosure of any confidential communications. The court shall permit withdrawal unless the court determines that the asserted conflict is not **prejudicial to the indigent client.** If the court grants the motion to withdraw, it may appoint one or more members of The Florida Bar, who are in no way affiliated with the public defender, in his or her capacity as such, or in his or her private practice, to represent those accused. However, the trial court shall appoint such other counsel upon its own motion when the facts developed upon the face of the record and files in the cause disclose such conflict. The court shall advise the appropriate public defender and clerk of court, in writing, when making such appointment and state the conflict prompting the

appointment. The appointed attorney shall be compensated as provided in s. 925.036.

§ 27.53(3), Fla. Stat. (1999) (emphasis added); see ch. 99-282, § 1, Laws of Fla.

In 2003, the statute was changed to implement Revision 7 to Article V of the Florida Constitution. *See* H.R. Comm. on Appropriations, HB 113A (2003) Staff Analysis 1 (May 14, 2003). Among other things, the Legislature moved section 27.53(3), Florida Statutes, to newly created section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2003); it gave the Justice Administrative Commission (JAC) standing to contest a public defender's motion to withdraw (§27.5303(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2003)); it provided that the court may not approve a public defender's motion to withdraw based solely on excess workload (§ 27.5303(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (2003)); and it required that the public defender, in determining whether a conflict exists, "shall apply the standards adopted by the Legislature after receiving recommendations from Article V Indigent Services Advisory Board" (§ 27.5303(1)(d), Fla. Stat. (2003)). Ch. 2003-402, § 18, Laws of Fla.

In 2007, the Legislature created the Offices of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel (RCC). Ch. 2007-61, Laws of Fla. The Legislature added RCC

¹ In 2004, the Legislature adopted "the standards contained in Uniform Standards for Use in Conflict of Interest Cases found in appendix C to the Final Report of the Article V Indigent Services Advisory Board dated January 6, 2004." *See* ch. 2004-265, § 10, Laws of Fla. (amending section 27.5303(1)(d), Florida Statutes (2003)).

to the conflict statute and provided that it may move to withdraw based on conflict in the same way as the public defender (§ 27.5303(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (2007)), and it eliminated from section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2007), JAC's standing to contest motions to withdraw. *See* Ch. 2007-61, § 10, Laws of Fla. Section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statute, which pertains to the public defender, now provides:

If, at any time during the representation of two or more defendants, a public defender determines that the interests of those accused are so adverse or hostile that they cannot all be counseled by the public defender or his or her staff without conflict of interest, or that none can be counseled by the public defender or his or her staff because of a conflict of interest, then the public defender shall file a motion to withdraw and move the court to appoint other counsel. The court shall review and may inquire or conduct a hearing into the adequacy of the public defender's representations regarding a conflict of interest without requiring the disclosure of any confidential communications. The court shall deny the motion to withdraw if the court finds the grounds for withdrawal are insufficient or the asserted conflict is not prejudicial to the indigent client. If the court grants the motion to withdraw, the court shall appoint one or more attorneys to represent the accused, as provided in s. 27.40. The public defender shall submit to the Justice Administrative Commission a copy of the order granting the motion to withdraw within 30 days after the motion is granted. The commission shall report quarterly to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives on the number of orders granting motions to withdraw for each circuit.

In 2008, the Legislature addressed public defender appellate conflicts for the first time. It amended section 27.511, Florida Statutes, and added the paragraph at issue here (*see* ch. 2008-111, § 3, Laws of Fla.):

The public defender for the judicial circuit specified in s. 27.51(4) shall, after the record on appeal is transmitted to the appellate court by the office of criminal conflict and civil regional counsel which handled the trial and if requested by the regional counsel for the indicated appellate district, handle all circuit court appeals authorized pursuant to paragraph (5)(f) within the state courts system and any authorized appeals to the federal courts required of the official making the request. If the public defender certifies to the court that the public defender has a conflict consistent with the criteria prescribed in s. 27.5303 and moves to withdraw, the regional counsel shall handle the appeal, unless the regional counsel has a conflict, in which case the court shall appoint private counsel pursuant to s. 27.40.

§ 27.511(8), Fla. Stat. (2008) (emphasis supplied).

B. Issue.

Given this statutory backdrop, what procedure applies when the *appellate* public defender asserts a conflict of interest? The Fourth District held that section 27.511(8), Florida Statute (2008), is specific, clear, and plain: when the appellate public defender certifies conflict, RCC will handle the appeal. RCC argues that this statute only applies when it handled the trial; in all other cases the appellate public defender's motions to withdraw are governed by section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statute (2008).

C. Argument.

As just stated, RCC argues that the language in section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes (2008), emphasized above—that when the public defender certifies a conflict, then RCC will handle the appeal—applies only when RCC also handled

the trial. *Initial Brief* at p. 8. RCC's theory is that since the public defender moved to withdraw at the trial level (resulting in RCC's appointment), the trial court has already reviewed the public defender's (or, more accurately, *a* public defender's) motion to withdraw under the criteria set forth in section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes.

As a preliminary matter, under that theory, the Fourth District was correct to rely solely on the appellate public defender's assertion of conflict in this case. Here the Broward public defender moved to withdraw from representing Johnson (and Mayfield, for that matter), and the trial court granted the motion. Presumably, the trial court, before granting the motion, reviewed the adequacy of the public defender's representations regarding the conflict of interest as required by section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes.² Thus, under RCC's theory, the appellate public defender's assertion of conflict in Johnson's case was sufficient given that the trial court once reviewed the motion to withdraw; RCC should not have contested the motion to withdraw. (Indeed, under RCC's theory, the appellate public defender could have withdrawn from Mayfield's case: the trial court granted the Broward public defender's motion to withdraw in that case as well.)

² As noted above, trial courts have been required to review the adequacy of a public defender's representations regarding a conflict of interest since 1999. *See* ch. 99-282, § 1, Laws of Fla.

Moreover, RCC's theory conflicts with its (correct) argument that a public defender's conflict at the trial level does not always continue on appeal. *Initial Brief* at pp. 11-12. If, for example, RCC handled a trial because a public defender was a victim or witness, or represented a victim or witness, that conflict would not continue on an appeal handled by the public defender in another circuit. But under RCC's theory, the trial public defender's motion to withdraw and appointment of RCC would be enough to allow the (unscrupulous) appellate public defender to certify conflict and withdraw.

It is unlikely the Legislature intended section 27.511(8), Florida Statutes, to apply only when RCC was trial counsel on the theory that a trial judge has already considered a motion to withdraw because, as the example above shows, a trial court's determination that the *trial* public defender has a conflict has little or no bearing on whether the *appellate* public defender has a conflict on appeal. Instead, the Legislature must have recognized that the procedures it requires judges to employ when ruling on public defender motions to withdraw at the trial level—procedures now codified in section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2008), and little changed since 1967—are ill-suited to appeals for at least two reasons.

First, it is clear, as the Fourth District indicated, section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2008), was aimed at trial courts, not appellate courts. The statute provides that "[t]he court shall review and may inquire or conduct a hearing into

the adequacy of the public defender's representations regarding a conflict of interest." Appellate courts do not generally conduct hearings; and cases are not decided by a single judge but must be decided by three district court judges. Art. V, § 4(a), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.210(a)(1).

Second, even if section 27.5303(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2008), could be read to authorize appellate courts to relinquish jurisdiction to the trial court to conduct a hearing,³ this presents its own set of difficulties the Legislature likely sought to avoid. The five public defender offices that handle appeals cover wide geographic areas. *See* § 27.51(4), Fla. Stat. (2008). Thus, the public defender of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit could be required to defend a motion to withdraw in Vero Beach, Okeechobee, or Fort Lauderdale. The public defender of the Second Judicial Circuit could be required to defend a motion to withdraw in Pensacola to the west or Jacksonville to the east or Gainesville to the south. The Legislature likely thought this was a waste of state resources. Further, if there is a trial court hearing, the appellate defendant will have a right to attend; and yet the appellate defendant will likely be in a prison far from the site of the hearing, increasing the cost and

³ As the Fourth District noted, RCC was routinely demanding evidentiary hearings whenever the public defender moved to withdraw, and initially motion panels were relinquishing jurisdiction to the trial court to hold hearings into the basis of the motions. *Johnson v. State*, 6 So. 3d 1262, 1263-64 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009).

general hassle involved in trying to have the matter heard by the busy trial court. In sum, the certification procedure provides a highly simplified procedure avoiding considerable expense to the taxpayers and burdens on the trial court system.

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